Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-6-2017

Nettleton v. Canyon Outdoor Media, LLC Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44416

C. Statement of Facts
IV.	ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
V.	STANDARD OF REVIEW13
VI.	ARGUMENT15
7	A. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT COMPENSATION AFTER TERMINATION OF EMPLOYMENT WAS A TERM OF THE EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN CANYON OUTDOOR AND NETTLETON
F T	B. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT A SINGLE CUSTOMER'S PAYMENT IN ADVANCE WHILE NETTLETON WAS EMPLOYED BY CANYON OUTDOOR ESTABLISHED A COURSE OF DEALINGS RELATING TO NETTLETON'S ENTITLEMENT TO COMPENSATION AFTER SEPARATION FROM EMPLOYMENT
	C. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DETERMINED THAT NETTLETON WAS NOT REQUIRED TO SERVICE CONTRACTS TO BE ENTITLED TO COMPENSATION
	a. There was no undisputed evidence in the record from which the trial court could base an inference that a servicing requirement was not communicated to Nettleton
	b. Nettleton's own testimony establishes that he understood the requirement to service an account to be entitled to commission on that account22
E	D. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REFUSED TO CONSIDER THE NEW EVIDENCE PRESENTED BY CANYON OUTDOOR23
	a. The trial court erred when it failed to consider whether Nettleton was entitled to compensation relating to uncollectible accounts.

	The trial court erred when it failed to consider whether Nettleton was awarded commissions based on amounts that exceeded what Canyon Outdoor actually received from its customers
	The trial court erred when it failed to consider whether Nettleton was awarded commissions for which he had previously been paid26
	The trial court erred when it failed to consider whether Nettleton was awarded commission on "renewal" contracts by the Court
	The trial court erred when it failed to consider whether Canyon Outdoor was entitled to an offset for the amounts Nettleton was previously overpaid27
	The trial court erred when it failed to consider whether Canyon Outdoor was entitled to an offset for expenses incurred continuing to service Nettleton's accounts following his resignation
	HE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN AWARDING COSTS AND ATTORNEY'S NETTLETON32
a.	Nettleton was not a prevailing party32
	The trial court erred when it awarded costs and attorney's fees relating to the false claim for compensation brought by Nettleton34
ATTORN NETTLE	HE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT REFUSED TO AWARD COSTS AND NEY'S FEES TO CANYON OUTDOOR FOR DEFENDING AGAINST TON'S FALSE CLAIM FOR COMPENSATION BASED ON RENEWAL ACTS35
	ANYON OUTDOOR IS ENTITLED TO AN AWARD OF COSTS AND NEY'S FEES ON APPEAL36
VII. CONCI	LUSION37
VIIICERTI	FICATE OF SERVICE

II. TABLE OF CASES AND AUTHORITIES

Cases

Advanced Med. Diagnostics, LLC v. Imaging Ctr. of Idaho, LLC, 154 Idaho 812, 815, 303 P.3d 171 174 (2013)
Atwood v. W. Const., Inc., 129 Idaho 234, 241, 923 P.2d 479, 486 (Ct. App. 1996)36
Barry v. Pac. W. Const., Inc., 140 Idaho 827, 831-32, 103 P.3d 440, 444-45 (2004)15, 16, 19, 37
Baxter v. Craney, 135 Idaho 166, 172, 16 P.3d 263, 269 (2000)22
Beco Const. Co. v. Bannock Paving Co., 118 Idaho 463, 466, 797 P.2d 863, 866 (1990)30, 31
Berg v. Fairman, 107 Idaho 441, 444, 690 P.2d 896, 899 (1984)13
Chenery v. Agri-Lines Corp., 106 Idaho 687, 693, 682 P.2d 640, 646 (Ct. App. 1984)32
Coghlan v. Beta Theta Pi Fraternity, 133 Idaho 388, 401, 987 P.2d 300, 313 (1999)14
Fragnella v. Petrovich, 153 Idaho 266, 281 P.3d 103, 113 (2012)23
G&M Farms v. Funk Irrigation Company, 119 Idaho 514, 516-17, 808 P.2d 851, 853-54 (1991)12
Huber v. Lightforce USA, Inc., 159 Idaho 833, 367 P.3d 228, 237 (2016)
Intermountain Eye and Laser Centers, P.L.L.C. v. Miller, 127 P.3d 121, 142 Idaho 218 (Idaho 2005)
Int'l Equip. Serv., Inc. v. Pocatello Indus. Park Co., 107 Idaho 1116, 1119, 695 P.2d 1255, 1258 (1985)27
J.R. Simplot Co. v. Bosen, 144 Idaho 611, 614, 167 P.3d 748, 751 (2006)19
Losee v. Idaho Co., 148 Idaho 219, 222, 220 P.3d 575, 578 (2009)21
McCoy v. Lyons, 120 Idaho 765, 769, 820 P.2d 360, 364 (1991)
Meridian Bowling Lanes, Inc. v. Meridian Athletic Ass'n, Inc., 105 Idaho 509, 670 P.2d 1294 (1983)
Nw. Bec-Corn v. Home Living Serv. 136 Idaho 835, 838, 41 P.3d 263, 266 (2002)

PHH Mortg. Servs. Corp. v. Perreira, 146 Idaho 631, 635, 200 P.3d 1180, 1184 (2009)23
Pierson v. Jones, 102 Idaho 82, 85, 625 P.2d 1085, 1088 (1981)
Pocatello Hosp., LLC v. Quail Ridge Med. Inv'r, LLC, 156 Idaho 709, 721, 330 P.3d 1067, 1079 (2014)
Riverside Dev. Co. v. Ritchie, 103 Idaho 515, 519, 650 P.2d 657, 661 (1982)13, 21
Rockefeller v. Grabow, 136 Idaho 637, 39 P.3d 637 (2001)
Ruge v. Posey, 114 Idaho 890,761 P.2d 1242 (Ct. App. 1988)
Shawver v. Huckleberry Estates, L.L.C., 140 Idaho 354, 360, 93 P.3d 685, 691 (2004)
Smith v. Meridian Joint Sch. Dist. No. 2, 128 Idaho 714, 719, 918 P.2d 583, 588 (1996)14, 18
Smith v. Whittier, 107 Idaho 1106, 1108, 695 P.2d 1245, 1247 (1985)31
Theriault v. A.H. Robbins Company, 108 Idaho 303, 698 P.2d 365 (1985)14
Triad Leasing & Fin., Inc. v. Rocky Mountain Rogues, Inc., 148 Idaho 503, 515, 224 P.3d 1092, 1104 (2009)
Statutes
I.C. § 12-120(3)
I.C. § 45-612(2)
Rules
I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1)(B)
I.R.C.P. 54(e)(6)33
ID C D 56(a)

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. INTRODUCTION

This action arises out of a claim for compensation for which the Plaintiff-Respondent Allen G. Nettleton ("Nettleton") is simply not entitled to. Nettleton sought compensation relating to payments the Defendant-Appellant Canyon Outdoor Media, LLC ("Canyon Outdoor") received from its customers after Nettleton terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor. The complaint filed by Nettleton sought compensation based on new and renewal contracts even though Nettleton knew that he was not entitled to compensation relating to renewal contracts at the time he filed the complaint. The trial court erred when it granted summary judgment in favor of Nettleton despite the following operative facts:

- Following a conversion from an independent contractor to an employee, Nettleton because dissatisfied, at least in part because of the withholding of taxes from his paycheck, and tendered his resignation to Canyon Outdoor. R. at 64, ¶9; R. at 38, p. 39, ll. 9-11.
- Nettleton received all compensation that was due at the time of his resignation from Canyon Outdoor. R. at 42, p. 62, ll. 23-25 p. 63, ll. 1-25.
- Nettleton admitted that an entitlement to compensation after he terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor was not part of the employment agreement between Canyon Outdoor and Nettleton. R. at 35, p. 37, ll. 10-14.
- Nettleton admitted that providing on going customer service and maintaining the relationships with customers, collectively known as "servicing the contract", was required in order to receive the variable portion of his compensation relating to payments Canyon Outdoor received on that contract. R. at 37, p. 45, ll. 16-19, R. at 30, p. 15, ll. 21-25 p. 16, ll. 1-14., R. at 30, p. 17, ll. 5-13., R. at 37, p. 44, ll. 6-17
- Nettleton admitted that Canyon Outdoor was required to pay someone else to service the contracts he was previously responsible for after he terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor. R. at 35, p. 37, ll. 15-25 p. 38, ll. 1-2.

- The February 28, 2014 agreement relied on by the trial court did nothing more than reaffirm that the commission rate on new contracts was ten percent and establish an adjustable scale to determine the percentage of commission on renewal contracts. R. at 112, p. 15; R. at 33, p. 27, ll. 14-25 p. 28, ll. 1-12.
- Nettleton did not make a claim for the fixed portion of his compensation after he terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor because he was not performing weekly cold calls required to be entitled to that compensation component. R. at 31, p. 19, ll. 10-25 p. 20, ll. 1-11. Yet Nettleton made a claim for the variable portion of his compensation after he terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor even though he was not performing the customer service and relationship maintenance required to be entitled to that compensation component.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

On August 21, 2015, Nettleton filed a Verified Complaint seeking to collect unpaid "wages" from Canyon Outdoor relating to payments Canyon Outdoor received from its customers after Nettleton terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor. R. at 10-12. Nettleton alleged that he was entitled to damages relating to both new and renewal contracts. R. at 10, ¶6. Nettleton filed an Amended Complaint on September 14, 2015 which corrected Canyon Outdoor's name but was otherwise the same as the August 21, 2015 Verified Complaint. R. at 13-15. Canyon Outdoor filed an Answer on September 24, 2015. R. at 16-21. Canyon Outdoor filed a Motion for Summary Judgment on February 29, 2016 and Nettleton filed a Cross-Motion for Summary Judgment on March 9, 2016. R. at 22-23; R. at 86-87. A hearing was held on the motions for summary judgment on April 6, 2016 and the trial court issued its Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Cross Motions for Summary Judgment on May 18, 2016. R. at 194-210. The trial court determined that Nettleton was an independent contractor prior to February 26, 2015. R. at 201-204. During the hearing, Nettleton admitted that he was not entitled

to future income from renewal contracts. Tr., p. 31, ll. 13-18. The trial court also determined that Nettleton was entitled to commission from payments received after he terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor on new contracts obtained prior to April 10, 2015. R. at 204-207. A Judgment was entered in favor of Nettleton on May 18, 2015. R. at 211-212.

On June 1, 2016, Canyon Outdoor submitted new evidence to the trial court and requested the trial court reconsider its Memorandum Decision and Order Re: Cross Motions for Summary Judgment. R. at 237-354. A hearing on Canyon Outdoor's motion for reconsideration was held on July 13, 2016 and the trial court refused to consider the new evidence presented by Canyon Outdoor. Tr. p. 68, Il. 2-18. The trial court also granted Nettleton's request for an award of attorney's fees and costs and denied Canyon Outdoor's request for an award of attorney's fees and costs. R. at 419-420. On July 25, 2016, a Second Amended Judgment in favor of Nettleton was entered. R. at 418. Canyon Outdoor filed its Notice of Appeal on August 10, 2016. R. at 421-436.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Canyon Outdoor is in the business of selling billboard advertising in southwestern Idaho. R. at 63, ¶4. Nettleton was hired in the fall of 2013 by Canyon Outdoor as an independent contractor to sell billboard advertising. R. at 63, ¶6. When Nettleton was hired, Curtis Massood explained to him during the interview process that the position was an independent contractor position. R. at 63, ¶6. In March of 2015, Robert Hutchings ("Hutchings") began to work for Canyon Outdoor. R. at 64, ¶9. Rather being hired as an independent contractor, Hutchings

requested that he be hired as an employee. *Id.* At that time Canyon Outdoor made the determination to transition Nettleton from an independent contractor to an employee. *Id.*

Canyon Outdoor's salespersons, including Nettleton, were and are required to not only obtain new contracts and renewal contracts, but to provide ongoing customer service relating to those contracts. R. at 63, \P 5. This includes soliciting the renewal of existing contracts, acting as the point of contact for customer questions and complaints, ensuring that billboards are not blocked by trees or other obstacles, ensuring that billboards are properly lit at night, and providing other aspects of customer service and relationship maintenance. R. at 63, \P ; R. at 30, p. 15, ll. 21-25 – p. 16, ll. 1-14.

It was a term of the agreement between Canyon Outdoor and Nettleton throughout his employment with Canyon Outdoor that he was required to service the new and renewal contracts that he was responsible for to be entitled to commissions on those contracts. R. at 67 at ¶19. Nettleton acknowledged that if a salesperson was servicing an account, that the salesperson would be entitled to the commission. R. at 37, p. 45, ll. 16-19. Nettleton also acknowledged during his deposition that he was required to service contracts, not just obtain new customers. R. at 30, p. 15, ll. 21-25 – p. 16, ll. 1-14. In his deposition, Nettleton discussed exactly what he was required to do to service contracts:

- Q. Once a new customer signed a contract, and you
- 22 put a billboard advertisement up.
- 23 A. Uh-huh.
- Q. Did you remain in contact with that customer?
- 25 A. Yes.
- 1 Q. What did you do for that customer?

- 2 A. Making sure their advertisement is still
- working for them, making sure they were happy, didn't
- 4 have any concerns. If there was repair issues that got
- 5 brought to my attention, I would move that up the ladder
- 6 so we could get service done on those -- those
- 7 locations. It seemed to be timer issues, things to that
- 8 nature that we would deal with, as far as changing
- 9 clocks, things of that nature, as far as when
- they -- you know, when they would be illuminated at
- 11 night, that was part of that process.
- 12 Q. And you did that on an ongoing basis
- throughout that term of the contract?
- 14 A. Yes.

R. at 30, p. 15, ll. 21-25 – p. 16, ll. 1-14.

- 5 Q. Did that remain an essential part of your job
- 6 duties?
- A. Once you got past the sales process -- we had
- 8 a tendency to sell a lot of annual contracts. So a lot
- 9 of the time those contracts, you wouldn't see them until
- their contracts were coming up for renewal next calendar
- 11 year. Obviously, to try to manage a base, you would be
- touching base with these customers throughout the year,
- though.
- Q. You were the one that took the calls from the
- new customers that you brought in?
- 16 A. There was a-- we did get some call-ins, but
- the majority of the new business was generated by being
- out in the field and generating them yourself.
- 19 Q. And once you generated that new business, were
- you the point of contact for the company?
- 21 A. Yes.

R. at 30, p. 17, ll. 5-13. Nettleton testified in his deposition that he serviced contracts on an ongoing, weekly basis:

- 6 Q. Were -- was there a -- essentially, a standard
- 7 weekly meeting?
- 8 A. Every Monday morning, I would turn in my

- 9 prospect list as far as new potentials, calls that I had
- made over the week's period of time.
- 11 Q. Was there anything else that was discussed at
- those meetings?
- 13 A. You know, if there was something outstanding
- that we needed to take care of with a customer, that's
- when we would kind of cover those things, to kind of
- stage out through the week, so you could set
- appointments, and work around them.

R. at 37, p. 44, ll. 6-17. Nettleton also testified that after he terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor someone else would be responsible for servicing the contracts that he previously serviced:

- 15 Q. So after you left would someone else then have
- been responsible for servicing the contracts that you
- 17 had previously serviced?
- 18 A. The same people, Sue was still there. We
- 19 still had the staff that did the maintenance on the
- 20 boards, and things to that nature, yes. But as far as
- 21 calling on the accounts going forward, that would have
- been to whoever they decided to hire.
- 23 Q. Specifically with regard to customer service
- 24 to current customers, who would have been responsible
- 25 for that after you left?
- 1 A. It probably would have fallen on Sue Martin's
- 2 shoulders.

R. at 35, p. 37, ll. 15-25 - p. 38, ll. 1-2.

Nettleton's monthly compensation from Canyon Outdoor included a fixed component and a variable component. R. at 65, ¶12. The commission that Nettleton was entitled to was determined on a monthly basis and was based on the payments Canyon Outdoor received during that month from the new and renewal contracts Nettleton was responsible for servicing. R. at 66,

¶17. Nettleton was not entitled to receive commission on new or renewal contracts once he stopped working for Canyon Outdoor. R. at 66, ¶18; R. at 113, p. 21, ll. 13-17; No salesperson of Canyon Outdoor, including Nettleton, was ever told they would be entitled to receive commission on new or renewal contracts once they stopped working for Canyon Outdoor. R. at 66, ¶18; R. at 117, p. 36, ll. 1-10. During his deposition, Nettleton admitted that commissions following separation from employment were not offered or promised to him by Canyon Outdoor.

R. at 35, p. 37, ll. 10-14. Nettleton testified as follows:

- Q. Did you ever specifically discuss whether you
- 21 would be entitled to commission for either renewal
- contracts, or new contracts that you were responsible
- 23 for servicing, or obtained after you would resign, or
- 24 were terminated from Canyon Outdoor Media?
- 25 A. The primary conversation I had directly with
- 1 Curt when Emile left, he said that -- like I had
- 2 mentioned earlier, that he claimed that he -- because of
- 3 the way Emile quit, he was just kind of out of there in
- 4 a hurry. He didn't have an opportunity to take care of
- 5 it
- 6 And I inquired about it directly. I said, why
- 7 would he walk away from that money? And he goes, well,
- 8 we just haven't had an opportunity to work it out. A':ld
- 9 that's what-- how it was referred to me.
- O. So am I correct then, that that was not
- something that you were promised when you took the
- 12 position?
- 13 A. It wasn't part of the initial conversations,
- 14 no.

R. at 35, p. 36, ll. 20-25 - p. 37, ll. 1-14. The only source of Nettleton's belief that he was entitled to commissions after he terminated his employment with Canyon Outdoor was a

purported conversation between Nettleton and Canyon Outdoor's owner. In his deposition, Nettleton testified as follows:

- Q. Are you aware of any documents, or emails, or
- any other form of communication that would set forth,
- 24 that you were entitled to what you referred to as the
- 25 "outstanding payment stream" after your resignation?
- 1 A. That was a verbal conversation between Curt
- and myself.
- 3 Q. And was that -- my recollection is, you said
- 4 that occurred, approximately, at the time that Emile
- 5 quit. Is that the conversation you are referring to?
- 6 A. Correct.
- 7 O. Was that the only time that matter was
- 8 discussed?
- 9 A. Well, and after the fact, when I was trying to
- negotiate with him. I had done a little research, and
- found out that -- that I needed to make a demand notice
- at the time of resignation as far as for those
- outstanding commissions. I did put that, and include
- that as part of my resignation letter. Also, that I was
- expecting those -- that to be compensated for those
- 16 contracts that I produced.

R. at 43, p. 67, ll. 22-25 – p. 68, ll. 1-16. In the affidavit Nettleton submitted to the trial court after his deposition was taken, Nettleton revised his recollection of the purported conversation to include the following, "I stated, "So he's entitled to those commissions coming due?" Mr. Massood replied, "Yes, we just haven't got that worked out yet." R. at 89, ¶5. The conversations identified by Nettleton did not relate to the terms of his employment agreement with Canyon Outdoor. R. at 43, p. 67, ll. 22-25 – p. 68, ll. 1-16; R. at 89, ¶5. Curtis Massood stated that he never informed Nettleton that Emile Lemoine or Nettleton were entitled to commissions

following their resignation from Canyon Outdoor. R. at 152. Curtis Massood's declaration provides as follows:

Following Emile Lemoine's resignation from Canyon Outdoor Media I had a discussion with Allen Nettleton regarding his desire to take over territory previously serviced by Mr. Lemoine. At no time during that conversation did I state that Mr. Lemoine or Mr. Nettleton were or would be entitled to commissions following resignation from Canyon Outdoor Media.

R. at 152, ¶2.

No other salesperson of Canyon Outdoor received commissions once they stopped servicing the new and renewal contracts that they were responsible for. R. at 67, ¶20. The expenses of Canyon Outdoor's business operation, including leases and production costs, are such that Canyon Outdoor would generally lose money on a contract if it paid commissions to former salespersons that were no longer servicing the contract and paid for someone else to continue to service that contract. R. at 67, ¶21. Following the economic downturn in 2008, and a significant portion of Canyon Outdoor's customers not renewing their contracts, Canyon Outdoor made the determination to lay off Jeff Harker ("Harker"), who was employed as a salesperson at the time. R. at 67, ¶22. Canyon Outdoor was simply unable to maintain two salespersons. *Id.* Harker was paid a severance payment of \$2,500.00 when he was laid off. *Id.* Harker was not paid commission on any revenues received on the contracts that he was previously responsible for and the amount of the severance payment was not related to the amount of commissions that Harker would have been entitled to if he was not laid off. *Id.*

Initially Nettleton was responsible for servicing Canyon Outdoor's current customers and marketing Canyon Outdoor's advertising services to potential customers in Canyon County. R. at

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