## Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-5-2017

# Nettleton v. Canyon Outdoor Media, LLC Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44416

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

#### ARGUMENT

# A. The Trial Court Properly Concluded Nettleton was Entitled to Commission from the New Contracts he Obtained Prior to April 10, 2015.

1. <u>Nettleton's written employment contract provided: "New Contracts will be paid</u> <u>at a Rate of 10% of the Monthly Revenue;" compensation after termination was a</u> <u>term of the employment agreement between Canyon Outdoor and Nettleton.</u>

The trial court determined that Nettleton and Canyon Outdoor entered into a written contract on February 28, 2014 setting forth a promise to pay commission on new contracts at a rate of 10% of the monthly revenue.<sup>17</sup> Further, there is nothing in the language of the contract that in any way prohibits, restricts, or prevents the commissions earned upon procuring new contracts from being paid post-employment. Throughout its motion for summary judgment, Defendant continually suggested there was an additional term of the contract requiring Nettleton to "service" the contracts before he was entitled to receive any commissions associated with the contract. At the end of the day the record speaks for itself and the record is void of any evidence

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> R. p. 197, reference Massood Decl. ¶ 13, Exhibit B.

lending credibility or support for Defendant's claim that Nettleton was responsible for the "servicing of the contract" in order to receive the 10% commission as reflected in the February 28, 2014 written contract.

Rather than acknowledge the plain terms of the written contract as indicated above, Defendant alleges it had a contract with Nettleton which provided he would only be paid his commission during months when he was servicing his accounts and since Nettleton resigned his employment he was obviously no longer servicing any accounts. However, Defendant has failed to present evidence of written or oral contract requiring Nettleton to service the new contracts in order to receive a commission. In the words of the trial court, "Canyon Outdoor Media has presented nothing more than Massood's conclusory testimony that servicing the contract was a requirement for receiving compensation."<sup>18</sup>

### 2. <u>"Course of Dealing" ~ Snake River Dental Contract commission paid to Nettleton</u> was not dependent upon Nettleton "servicing" the contract.

Not only is there a written contract explicitly setting forth the term by which Nettleton was entitled to commissions earned for procuring new contract, Nettleton presented the trial court with evidence demonstrating "course of dealing" related to the payment of commissions clearly not dependent upon the "servicing" of the contract. Nettleton relied on the Snake River Dental Contract to show payment of commissions were not dependent on Nettleton "servicing" the contract. In November, 2014 Nettleton made a sale to Snake River Dental for 12 months of advertising. Rather than pay monthly, Snake River Dental paid a lump sum upfront and in return,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> R. pp. 206

Canyon Outdoor paid Nettleton his commission in full in his next paycheck. Nettleton asserts this proves he was not required to "service" contracts as a condition precedent to receiving commissions.<sup>19</sup> Defendant has offered no evidence disputing Nettleton's evidence of the "course of dealing" or lack of service requirement.

As apply stated by the Court in its Memorandum and Decision and Order Re: Cross Motions for Summary Judgment, "When the court will be the fact-finder at trial, as it will be in this case, 'it is permissible for the court on a summary judgment motion to draw the inferences that it deems most probable from the undisputed evidence and grant summary judgment despite the possibility of conflicting inferences.' Johnson v. McPhee, 147 Idaho 455, 469, 210 P.3d 563, 577 (Ct. App. 2009)."<sup>20</sup> Moreover, the lump sum payment of Plaintiff's entire 10% commission on the Snake River Dental contract when the advertiser paid in full is "evidence of how the parties intended the contract to be interpreted." Pocatello Hospital, LLC v. Quail Ridge Med. Investor LLC, 156 Idaho 729, 721, 330 P.3d 1067, 1079 (2014). See also Mountainview Landowners Coop. Assoc., Inc, v. Cool, 142 Idaho 861, 865, 136 P.3d 332, 336 (2006). The interpretation: Plaintiff gets his 10% commission out of the advertiser's payment when the advertiser pays, not as he "services" the contract over its terms of months.

Defendant has failed to produce any evidence that the "servicing" requirement was a term in the contract. Further, there is no evidence in the record establishing the "service" requirement or lack of entitlement to post-resignation commissions was ever communicated to or agreed to by Nettleton. Had Defendant intended for commissions to be dependent upon continued "servicing"

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> R. p. 206, reference Nettleton Aff. ¶ 6-7.
<sup>20</sup> R. p. 206.

of contract, the language should have been included in the contract. Clearly, there can be no meeting of the minds about unspoken and unwritten requirements which are contrary to a course of dealing and other evidence before the court. A party's nonverbalized subjective intent is not part of the contract and therefore the trial court correctly found in favor of Nettleton summary judgment. *J.R. Simplot Company v. Bosen*, 144 Idaho 611, 614, 167 P.3d 748, 751 (Idaho 2006).

While Defendant was right in its assertion there was no meeting of the minds on a material term of the parties' contract, Defendant was wrong about the particular term at issue. Clearly, the material term never mutually agreed to by the parties was: that Nettleton would not get commissions otherwise due him after he resigned because he was not there to <u>service</u> his contracts. There is no admissible evidence to prove the term, not to mention Defendant admits servicing the contracts was not even discussed, and the parties' course of dealing belies its existence. Ultimately, in light of the evidence presented by the parties in their cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court found, "In light of such undisputed evidence, the reasonable inference to be drawn is that there was no 'servicing' requirement in the contract between Canyon Outdoor Media and Nettleton."<sup>21</sup> Therefore, Defendant's summary judgment was properly denied by the trial court.

# **B.** The Trial Court Properly Denied Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration and Request to Consider New Evidence.

At the conclusion of the hearing on Defendant's Motion for Reconsideration, the trial court denied Defendant's motion for the following reasons:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> R. pp. 206-207.

- 1. The contract was memorialized in writing.
- 2. The "servicing the contract" term Canyon Outdoor Media claimed to exist was not in writing, nor did Defendant present sufficient evidence at the motion for summary judgment to support the claim.
- 3. There was sufficiently persuasive evidence on Nettleton's behalf to support the conclusions made at the summary judgment hearing as to the existence of the agreement to pay commission according to the terms of the February 28, 2014 contract and to the inferences drawn therefrom.<sup>22</sup>

"[W]hen the district court grants summary judgment and then denies motion for reconsideration, this Court must determine whether the evidence presented a genuine issue of material fact to defeat summary judgment. This means the Court reviews the district court's denial of a motion for reconsideration de novo." *Massey v. Conagra Foods, Inc.*, 156 Idaho 476, 480, 328 P.3d 456, 460 (2014) (quoting *Bremer, LLC v. E. Greenacres Irrigation Dist.*, 155 Idaho 736, 744, 316 P.3d 652, 660 (2013)). Here, the trial court's denial of Defendant's motion for reconsideration and consideration of new evidence requires additional analysis due to the fact the trial court's order granting summary judgment was filed at the same time as final judgment. Because the judgment was filed contemporaneous with the order granting Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment and order denying Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment, there was no *interlocutory order* remaining for Defendant to seek reconsideration of.

There being no interlocutory order, the governing standard relied upon by Defendant in his Memorandum in Support of Motion for Reconsideration is not applicable in this case because final judgment was entered on May 18, 2016:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> T. p. 68, ll. 4-19.

'The district court has no discretion on whether to entertain a motion for reconsideration pursuant to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 11(a)(2)(B).' *Fragnella v. Petrovich*, 153 Idaho 266, 281 P.3d 103, 113 (2012), reh'g denied (Aug. 1, 2012). 'On a motion for reconsideration, the court must consider any new admissible evidence or authority bearing on the correctness of an interlocutory order.' *Id.; see PHH Mortg. Servs. Corp. v. Perreira*, 146 Idaho 631, 635, 200 P.3d 1180, 1184 (2009) (citing *Coeur d'Alene Mining Co. v. First Nat 'I Bank of N Idaho*, 118 Idaho 812, 823, 800 P.2d 1026, 1037 (1990)) (emphasis added).<sup>23</sup>

In re Estate of Lanham, 369 P.3d 307 (App. 2016), the Idaho Supreme Court was asked

to address the denial of appellant's motion for reconsideration when final judgment was entered

prior to the filing of the motion. The Court's analysis below is applicable to the appeal filed by

Defendant herein:

A final judgment is 'an order or judgment that ends the lawsuit, adjudicates the subject matter of the controversy, and represents a final determination of the rights of the parties. It must be a separate document that on its face states the relief granted or denied.' *T.J.T., Inc. v. Mori*, 148 Idaho 825, 826, 230 P.3d 435, 436 (2010). The purpose of a rule requiring that every judgment be set forth on a separate document is to eliminate confusion about when the clock for an appeal begins to run. *Spokane Structures, Inc. v. Equitable Inv., LLC*, 148 Idaho 616, 619, 226 P.3d 1263, 1266 (2010). A final judgment that does not dispose of outstanding issues in a case does not fulfill its purpose. Therefore, where a trial court fails to rule on a motion for reconsideration filed prior to the entry of a final judgment, we presume the district court denied the motion when it entered a final judgment. *See State v. Wolfe*, 158 Idaho 55, 61, 343 P.3d 497, 503 (2015).

While the trial court in this case did hear the Motion for Reconsideration despite there being a final judgment, the court could have just as easily declined to rule on the motion as the Court did *In re Estate of Lanham.* Nonetheless, Nettleton maintains when the trial court entered its final

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> R. p. 338.

judgment Defendant was precluded from moving for reconsideration of the order for summary judgment. *Id.* 

The trial court properly denied Defendant's request to present additional evidence which Defendant claimed was necessary to determine the correctness of the court's interlocutory order. Contrary to Defendant's assertion, the court's order for summary judgment was not an interlocutory order based on the fact the court issued a final judgment on the matter simultaneously. The facts presented by Defendant in its motion for reconsideration and again, in its appeal were never asserted in the summary judgment proceeding. Because Defendant failed to "set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial" at the summary judgment proceeding Nettleton was entitled to summary judgment. *Baxter v. Craney*, 135 Idaho 166, 170, 16 P.3d 263, 267 (2000); IRCP Rule 65(e) ("If the party does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against the party."). Defendant's motion for reconsideration, accompanying declarations and exhibits in this case is Defendant's attempt to introduce a late, after-the-fact, summary judgment declaration and argument, in violation of the orderly scheduling required by IRCP Rule 56(c).

Defendant's presentation of new evidence related to payments and request for offset against the judgment in its Motion for Reconsideration are improper. Nettleton's motion for summary judgment sought recovery of \$13,950 in unpaid commissions plus statutory treble damages, etc.<sup>24</sup> Defendant opposed Plaintiff's summary judgment on the grounds that he is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> R. pp. 136-141.

entitled to any commissions or alternatively, that he is not entitled to statutory treble damages.<sup>25</sup> At no time did Defendant question the amount of the commissions claimed by Nettleton (\$13,950) in any papers opposing the summary judgment. In fact, Defendant's own motion for summary judgment takes the same position as its opposition to Plaintiffs motion: Plaintiff is not entitled to any commissions and even if he is, he is not entitled to statutory treble damages.<sup>26</sup> Defendant did not dispute \$13,950 figure. The only time prior to the motion for reconsideration did Defendant has disputed the amount of commissions due was at oral argument on the summary judgment. At that time, Defendant's attorney claimed various amounts less than the full contract amount due Defendant had been paid by Idaho Bourbon Distillers, and therefore Plaintiff's commission due had to be discounted. However, these representations were presented in argument, not under oath. Camp v. Jiminez, 107 Idaho 878, 882, 693 P.2d 1080, 1084 (Idaho App. 1984)(unsworn statements are not probative in summary judgment).

It is undisputed that the facts Defendant presented in its motion for reconsideration and Appellant's Brief were never asserted by Defendant in the summary judgment proceeding. Instead, in its Motion for Reconsideration Defendant for the first time alleges facts to its Eighth Affirmative Defense, "offset."<sup>27</sup> Additionally, in Section D of his Memorandum Defendant, raised the affirmative defense of "payment," also not addressed in the summary judgment proceeding. Without question, Defendant had the burden of supporting his claimed affirmative

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup>R. pp. 147-151. <sup>26</sup>R. pp. 22-23, pp. 74-85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> R. pp. 16-21.

defenses in the summary judgment. Chandler v. Hayden, 147 Idaho 765, 771, 215 P.3d 485, 491

(2009). Having failed to do so, he has waived them.

Further, Defendant did not produce in discovery some of the evidence it now cites in support of its affirmative defenses until at least May 12, well after the April 6 oral argument on the summary judgment, if at all. This despite Plaintiff's discovery requests served September 28, 2015, which included the following:

INTERROGATORY NO. 16: Please state every fact you rely upon in support of your FIRST through TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES. INTERROGATORY NO. 17: Please state the amount Plaintiff owes Defendant and every fact supporting any such claimed offset. REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 21: Please produce every document or thing which evidences any fact you rely upon in support of your FIRST through TENTH AFFIRMATIVE DEFENSES. REQUEST FOR PRODUCTION NO. 22: Please produce every document or thing evidencing the amount Plaintiff owes Defendant and every fact supporting

any such claimed offset.

And despite the deadline for final supplementation of discovery responses being May 2 (35 days before the June 6 trial; Order Setting Trial, etc., November 23, 2015, para. 8(c)). Yet Defendant claims that it overpaid Plaintiff and that "equity requires" that these alleged overpayments be deducted from Plaintiff's recovery.<sup>28</sup> Defendant has not cited any legal theory or authority to support its novel claim, and none are known. If Plaintiff overpaid Defendant, it did so for its own good and sufficient reasons or because of poor management, through no fault of Plaintiff. It is estopped to recover that money, which has been spent by Plaintiff due to his wholly reasonable "detrimental reliance."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> R. pp. 349-351.

Further, Defendant claims that it had to pay additional wages for staff to service Plaintiff's contracts after he left, which should also be deducted from his recovery.<sup>29</sup> Again, Defendant cites no legal theory or authority for its novel theory. Then, Defendant claims that Plaintiff was not entitled to commissions on certain contracts (Contracts #14 and #16) because they were "renewal contracts" not "new contracts."<sup>30</sup> Defendant classifies those contracts as "renewal" contracts, yet Defendant failed to dispute Nettleton's identification of those contracts "new" until after judgment was entered in this case. In fact, in its Response to Request for Admission No. 2: Defendant did not deny contracts #14 and #16 were "new" contracts.<sup>31</sup> Clearly, the time to have made such distinction would have been during summary judgment and not later when Defendant was unsatisfied with judgment entered by the trial court.

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